CLINICAL PRACTICE STATEMENT BY THE MEDICAL SCIENTIFIC ADVISORY GROUP TO MYELOMA AUSTRALIA





MSAG Guidelines

Consensus clinical practice guidelines for the treatment of patients with Waldenström Macroglobulinaemia

D Talaulikar^{1,2,3}, D Joshua^{3,4}, P J Ho^{3,4,5}, J Gibson^{3,4}, H Quach^{3,6,7}, S Gibbs^{3,8,9}, S Ling^{3,10}, C Ward^{3,11}, B Augustson^{3,12}, Medical and Scientific Advisory Group³, J Trotman^{5,13}, S J Harrison^{3,14,15}, C S. Tam^{7,16}

1 ACT Pathology, Canberra Hospital, Canberra, Australia; 2 Australian National University, Canberra, Australia; 3 Medical and Scientific Advisory Group, Myeloma Australia, Richmond, Australia; 4 Institute of Haematology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Camperdown, NSW; 5 University of Sydney, Camperdown, NSW; 6 St Vincent's Hospital, Fitzroy, VIC; 7 Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry and Health Sciences, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia; 8 Department of Haematology, Eastern Health, Box Hill, VIC; 9 Eastern Clinical Research Unit, Monash University, VIC; 10 Liverpool Hospital, Liverpool, NSW; 11 Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards, NSW; 12 Department of Haematology, Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital, Nedlands, WA 13 Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Concord, NSW; 14 Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre and Royal Melbourne Hospital, Melbourne VIC; 15 Sir Peter MacCallum Dept of Oncology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC; 16 Alfred Hospital, Melbourne, Victoria.

Myeloma Australia's Medical and Scientific Advisory Group (MSAG)

Professor Simon Harrison	Victoria	Chair
Professor Hang Quach	Victoria	Vice-Chair
Professor Miles Prince	Victoria	
Professor Andrew Spencer	Victoria	
Dr Anna Kalff	Victoria	
Dr Simon Gibbs	Victoria	
Professor Doug Joshua	New South Wales	
Professor Joy Ho	New South Wales	
Professor Chris Ward	New South Wales	
Dr Silvia Ling	New South Wales	
A/Professor Peter Mollee	Queensland	
Dr Nick Weber	Queensland	
Dr Noemi Horvath	South Australia	
Professor Andrew Zannettino	South Australia	
Dr Wilfrid Jaksic	South Australia	
Dr Cindy Lee	South Australia	
Dr Bradley Augustson	Western Australia	
Dr Dejan Radeski	Western Australia	
A/Professor Dipti Talaulikar	Australian Capital Ter	ritory
Dr Nick Murphy	Tasmania	
Dr Anna Johnston	Tasmania	
Dr Ferenc Szabo	Northern Territory	
Dr Ken Romeril	New Zealand	
Dr Henry Chan	New Zealand	

Acknowledgements:

These guidelines have been reviewed and endorsed by the WMozzies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	Introduction	4
2	Treatment of WM: general comments	5
	Approved treatment regimens for therapy in Australia	
3	Treatment options	9
	Chemoimmunotherapy	9
	Proteasome inhibitors	
4	Frontline therapy of WM	15
	Treatment of relapsed WM	16
	Supportive care	
	Stem Cell Transplantation	16
	Bing Neel Syndrome	17
	Transformation to large cell disease	17
5	Concluding remarks	18
	Supplementary Appendix A:	14
6	References	19

1 INTRODUCTION

Abstract

Waldenström Macroglobulinaemia (WM) is an indolent B-cell malignancy characterised by the presence of IgM paraprotein, bone marrow infiltration by clonal small B lymphocytes with plasmacytic differentiation, and the MYD88 L265P mutation in >90% of cases. Traditionally, WM has been treated with low dose chemoimmunotherapy. Recent trials have demonstrated the efficacy and safety of Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase inhibitors (BTKi) in WM, both as monotherapy and in combination with other drugs. There is emerging evidence on use of other agents including BCL2 inhibitors and on treatment of rare presentations of WM. In this update, the Medical and Scientific Advisory Group to the Myeloma Foundation Australia review available evidence on treatment of WM since the last publication in 2017 and provide specific recommendations to assist Australian clinicians in the management of this disease.

Introduction

Waldenström Macroglobulinaemia (WM) is a B-cell lymphoid malignancy which is defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a disease manifested by a monoclonal IgM paraprotein and infiltration of the bone marrow (BM) by clonal small B lymphocytes, plasmacytoid lymphocytes and plasma cells 1. It constitutes less than 5% of all non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL), with an incidence of $\approx 0.3/100,000$ cases/ year 2. The advent of newer treatments such Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitors (BTKi) have changed the diagnostic and therapeutic landscape of the disease.

This update to the clinical practice guideline for the treatment of WM is from the Australian Medical Scientific Advisory Group (MSAG) to Myeloma Australia (MA), which consists of a panel of haematologists across Australia, as well as local experts. Levels of evidence and grades of recommendations in this guideline are as shown in **Table 1**. Statements without grading were considered justified standard clinical practice by the panel and the experts.

It encompasses general comments on approved treatment options, followed by sections on various therapies, and recommended options for newly diagnosed WM and relapsed/refractory WM.

LEVELS OF EVIDENCE					
1A	Evidence from meta-analysis of randomised control trials.				
1B	Evidence from at least one randomised controlled trial.				
2A	Evidence from at least one well-designed non-randomised trial, including phase II trials and case-control studies.				
2B	Evidence from at least one other type of well-designed, quasi-experimental study such as observational studies.				
3	Evidence from well-designed non-experimental descriptive studies.				
4	Evidence obtained from expert committee reports or opinions and/or of respected authorities.				
	GRADES OF RECOMMENDATION				
А	Recommendation based on at least randomised controlled trial of good quality addressing specific recommendation (Evidence level 1A and 1B).				
В	Recommendation based on well-conducted studies but no randomised controlled trial on topic of recommendation. (Evidence level 2A, 2B, and 3).				
С	Recommendation based on expert opinions or reports (Evidence level 4).				

Table 1: Level of evidence and grades of recommendations.

2 TREATMENT OF WM: GENERAL COMMENTS

Patients considered to be candidates for treatment include those with cytopenias i.e. Hb level < 100 g/L or platelet count $< 100 \text{ x} 10^9 \text{/L}$ attributable to WM, those with bulky lymphadenopathy or organomegaly, symptomatic hyperviscosity, moderate/severe or worsening peripheral neuropathy attributable to WM, amyloidosis, cryoglobulinemia, nephropathy or cold-agglutinin disease (**Table 2**).

Feature	IgM-Monoclonal Gammopathy of Undetermined Significance (MGUS)	Asymptomatic Waldenström Macroglobulinaemia (WM)96	Symptomatic WM	Treatment Indication
IgM paraprotein	≤30g/L No hyperviscosity	Any level; >30g/L if paraprotein is sole criterion No hyperviscosity		1. Asymptomatic and >60g/L 5 or 2. Symptomatic hyperviscosity*
Bone marrow	Not infiltrated (<10% as per Mayo criteria)	Clonal lymphoplasma- cytic cells	Clonal lymphoplasmacytic cells	
Cytopenias	Absent	Absent	May be present	Haemoglobin < 100 g/L Neutrophils < 1.0 x 109/L Platelet <100 x 109/L
Spleen, lymph node, other tissues	Absent	Absent	May be present	Symptomatic organomegaly Bulky (>5 cm) and/ or symptomatic lymphadenopathy Symptomatic infiltration of other tissues
Disease-related symptoms	Absent	Absent	May be present - cytopenias - B symptoms - neuropathy - cryoglobulinemia - cold agglutinin haemolytic anaemia - skin rash - nephropathy (Paraproteinemia associated diseases with end organ damage)	Immune haemolytic anaemia or thrombocytopenia Fever, night sweats, weight loss or fatigue Peripheral neuropathy Nephrotic syndrome Amyloidosis Symptomatic cryoglobulinemia
MYD88 L265P Mutation	Present in 50% High risk of WM if present	Present in > 90%	Present in > 90%	

 $^{{}^\}star \text{Note}$ the relationship between IgM paraprotein levels and symptoms is not linear.

Table 2: The Spectrum of IgM Gammopathy, and Treatment Indications ³

The general recommended work up of patients with WM has been covered in detail in a previously published MSAG guideline ⁴ and is listed in **Table 3**. Asymptomatic patients should have IgM levels monitored serially and those with rapidly rising levels or with IgM > 60 g/L should be considered for treatment to avoid hyperviscosity related complications ⁵. Two thirds of patients with IgM > 60 g/L are known to develop hyperviscosity. Hyperviscosity rates are reported to be higher in those carrying CXCR4 mutations ⁶.

Group	Test	Indicated in/Comments
History and examination	Clinical assessment of hyperviscosity symptoms and signs, including fundoscopy and neurological exam, Lymphadenopathy, organomegaly, skin rash. Urine dipstick for proteinuria Family history of WM/NHL	All patients
Blood and urine tests	Full blood count and blood film Urea & electrolytes, calcium, phosphate, uric acid Liver function tests LDH and ß2-microglobulin Iron studies Serum electrophoresis (SPEP) and serum immunoglobulins PT, aPTT Urine protein *HIV, *hepatitis B (including core antibody) * Hepatitis C serology Markers of haemolysis (retics, LDH and haptoglobin) Direct Coomb's test Cryoglobulin screen only where indicated (skin rash etc) Plasma viscosity	All patients IgM measurement by SPEP and nephelometry may vary substantially ⁹⁷ Hep B status important for rituximab therapy Hep C status important for cryoglobulinemia
Bone marrow	BM aspirate and trephine Flow cytometry Perl's stain for iron stores Molecular study for MYD88 L265P mutation	Patients with paraprotein >10g/L or WM related symptoms
Radiology	*CT neck/chest/abdomen/pelvis with contrast	Patients with clinical lymphadenopathy and proven WM
Advanced prognostic tests	Sequencing for CXCR4 mutations Marrow cytogenetics	May provide additional prognostic value, where available.
Special situations		
Suspected amyloidosis	ECG, echocardiogram, troponin and BNP; consider cardiac MRI and biopsy Serum free light chains 24 hour urine for proteinuria and Bence Jones protein Congo red staining on BM Organ specific biopsy	Patients suspected to have amyloidosis
Neuropathy	Neuronal antibody screen (anti-MAG, anti-GM1, anti- sulfatide IgM) Nerve conduction studies	Patients with peripheral neuropathy suspected to be related to WM
Bing Neel syndrome	MRI brain CSF sampling for cytology, flow cytometry, protein and glucose	Patients with features of possible direct central nervous system involvement (Bing-Neel syndrome)
Haemorrhagic disease	PT, aPTT Factor studies, vWD studies, platelet aggregation.	Patients with bleeding history

^{*}These tests do not need performing at diagnosis and can be performed prior to treatment

Table 3: Recommended Workup for WM³

Approved treatment regimens for therapy in Australia

Australian clinicians are limited in the access to Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) subsidised drugs for treatment of WM. The standard chemoimmunotherapy regimens approved for use in WM through the PBS are Bendamustine-Rituximab (B-R) and Dexamethasone-Rituximab-Cyclophosphamide (DRC). B-R is publicly funded only for frontline treatment. As this is an update to the previous guidelines, conventional chemoimmunotherapy regimens outside of these 2 regimens that were discussed in version 1 of the MSAG clinical practice recommendations for WM will not be discussed again. Please refer to them for further details ³.

Newer agents such as BTKi, while effective, are not yet reimbursed through the PBS in Australia at the time of publication of these guidelines. Treatment recommendations for WM based on availability of drugs through PBS has therefore not changed from the time of version 1 of the guidelines published in 2017. It is however recommended that for appropriate clinical contexts, alternate means of procuring medications be explored, noting that Zanubrutinib has recently received positive recommendation from the PBAC to be listed on the PBS.

Before discussing newer specific therapeutic regimens in WM, it is important to highlight additional management aspects unique to WM.

1. IgM flare or rebound

While IgM levels are traditionally believed to correlate with disease status, this is not always the case. A phenomenon that rapidly causes > 25% rise in IgM levels called "IgM flare" or "IgM rebound" is seen after commencing Rituximab based therapy, especially Rituximab monotherapy, and after cessation or interruption of BTKi.

Approximately 54% of patients receiving Rituximab are known to develop IgM flare; they tend to show this in the first 8 weeks of treatment, with levels returning to baseline within 4 months in most patients 78.

A similar phenomenon is noted on cessation or interruption of the first generation BTKi, Ibrutinib in 73% of patients with approximately half of these rebounds occurring within the first 4 weeks. About half i.e. 46% return back to pre-Ibrutinib levels. However, the important point to note is that the IgM rebound can persist for much longer i.e. 6 months following re-initiation of therapy, and persistent elevation of IgM after recommencement of Ibrutinib does not necessarily represent treatment failure ⁹. If in doubt, continued BTKi therapy with regular monitoring of symptoms and IgM levels is recommended. Rarely, hyperviscosity symptoms including cerebral symptoms and worsening neuropathy can occur, and temporary treatment with plasmapheresis may be warranted.

2. Monitoring pre and post treatment and response assessment

WM patients require monitoring during the asymptomatic phase, and post treatment for response assessment. There are particular inherent difficulties in IgM / paraprotein measurements irrespective of whether monoclonal paraprotein determined by serum electrophoresis and densitometry is used for monitoring, or total IgM as measured by nephelometry. We recommend that serial measurement be performed, preferably at the same laboratory, as the unique IgM monoclonal protein can be difficult to measure in individual patients due to technical factors ^{10,11}. We recommend both methods be assessed at first diagnosis, prior to commencement of treatment, and at confirmation of final response. One of the two methods should be used consistently for monitoring during the asymptomatic phase, and during treatment.

It should be noted that there is lack of correlation between disease burden as assessed by bone marrow (BM) and CT evaluations, IgM levels and the clinical situation. For example, disease progression manifested by development of symptoms and/or anaemia, may present with significant BM infiltration with malignant cells but relatively small rise in IgM levels. Clinical judgement is required to carefully assess the patient comprehensively instead of relying on IgM levels alone.

The International Workshop on Waldenström Macroglobulinaemia (IWWM) has published response categories based mainly on IgM responses 12 : complete response (CR) requires a normal IgM level and complete absence of paraprotein by immunofixation; very good partial response (VGPR) and partial response (PR) represent \geq 90%, and \geq 50% but <90% fall in IgM from baseline, respectively, with detectable monoclonal IgM; minor response (MR) is \geq 25% and <50% fall in IgM from baseline. In addition, CR requires complete resolution of extramedullary disease (e.g. lymphadenopathy and splenomegaly), and morphological clearance of the BM (**Table 4**).

It is important to know that post therapy drop/nadir in IgM levels may be delayed for months to years in some clinical responders. Perversely, the uncommon occurrence of delayed paraprotein responses can occur months to years after cessation of time limited chemoimmunotherapy ^{13,14}. Therefore, it is crucial not to regard persistent raised IgM as a marker of therapy resistance in isolation from other indications of therapeutic response such as a rise in haemoglobin levels, BM clearance and/or resolution of symptoms. There is no consensus on the timing of response assessments including BM; it is recommended that this be determined on an individual basis and be directed by clinical assessment, specifically resolution of symptoms and anaemia.

	Protein studies	Bone marrow	Extramedullary disease
Complete Response (CR)	Normal IgM level and complete absence of paraprotein by immunofixation	Morphological clearance	Complete resolution of lymphadenopathy and organomegaly
Very Good Partial Response (VGPR)	>90% fall in IgM levels from baseline		reduction in extra medullary sites of disease
Partial Response (PR)	>50 but < 90% fall in IgM levels from baseline		reduction in extra medullary sites of disease
Minor response (MR)	≥25% and <50% fall in IgM from baseline		reduction in extra medullary sites of disease
Stable Disease (SD)	<25% fall in IgM from baseline		

Table 4: International Workshop on Waldenström Macroglobulinaemia (IWMM) response criteria

3 TREATMENT OPTIONS

Chemoimmunotherapy

Within the current Australian regulatory environment, the most pragmatic regimens for frontline therapy, depending on the age, presence of co-morbidities and general fitness of the patient, are Bendamustine and Rituximab (B-R), or Dexamethasone, Rituximab and Cyclophosphamide (DRC). There is no randomised data on comparison of the 2 regimens. BR and DRC are discussed in greater detail below. Doses and schedules of B-R, DRC, FCR, FR, and single agent chlorambucil and rituximab are listed in **Table 5**.

Bendamustine-Rituximab (B-R)

The large, randomised StiL study comparing Bendamustine and Rituximab with R-CHOP in 549 indolent and mantle cell lymphomas in the frontline setting included 41 patients (22: B-R arm, 19: R-CHOP arm) with lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenström Macroglobulinaemia. A significant improvement in progression free survival (PFS) was noted in the B-R arm vs. the R-CHOP arm across all histological subtypes including WM (69.5 months vs. 28.1 months, HR 0.33, CI 0.11-0.64, p=0.0033)¹⁵. Preliminary analysis on the B-R induction arm of the randomised controlled trial on Rituximab maintenance vs. observation in treatment naïve WM showed an overall response rate (ORR) of 86% ¹⁶. This study is the basis on which anthracycline-based therapy such as R-CHOP is no longer recommended in WM. As Bendamustine and Rituximab are both now PBS-funded, B-R is a preferred first line therapy for WM.

The StiL MAINTAIN study randomised 218 WM patients who had at least partial response to B-R to observation vs 2 monthly Rituximab maintenance for 2 years. The median PFS of 83 vs 101 months was not significant ¹⁷. There is therefore currently no data to recommend use of Rituximab maintenance in WM.

B-R has also been studied in the relapsed setting with median reported PFS of 13.2 months 18 . A multicentre open-label phase 3 randomised study in patients with relapsed indolent lymphomas included 24 patients with WM with a median age of 67 years. The study showed improved PFS overall with B-R compared to F-R i.e. Fludarabine and Rituximab (34.2 months vs. 11.7 months, HR = 0.54, p<0.0001) 19 . Subgroup analysis of the WM cohort showed a median PFS of 32 months for the B-R arm vs. 12 months for the F-R arm.

DRC (Dexamethasone, Rituximab and Cyclophosphamide)

While there are no randomised controlled trial data, DRC was assessed in a Greek Myeloma Study Group phase II study of 72 frontline patients. ORR of 74% (7% CR) was obtained and an additional 9% had minor response (MR) ^{20,21} (**Table 6**). The median PFS was 35 months, and median overall survival (OS) was 95 months. The regimen was well tolerated with grade ≥3 neutropenia and thrombocytopenia rates of 9% and 0%, respectively. The long duration to response is one disadvantage of DRC (median time to partial response 4.1 months), and thus this regimen may not be suitable where rapid control of IgM is desired. On the other hand, the regimen is not stem cell toxic and is unlikely to impair haematopoietic stem cell mobilisation. It may be the preferred regimen for the frailer, older patient for whom Bendamustine may be considered too immunosuppressive, especially in those elderly with indolent disease and very slow progression to need for therapy who may not require the more intensive and immunosuppressive bendamustine approach in their lifespan.

Other chemo(immunotherapy) regimens

There is considerable data on use of nucleoside analogues such as Fludarabine and Cladribine based regimens in the frontline treatment of transplant ineligible WM. The randomised WM1 study ²² and the phase 2 SWOG study ²³ included 209 and 118 WM patients respectively and showed ORR of 28% and 38% with median PFS of 36 and up to 60 months. The addition of Rituximab to fludarabine, fludarabine and cyclophosphamide or to cladribine has been reported to be even higher in phase 2 studies with ORR of 38-85% and PFS of up to 60 months ²⁴⁻²⁶. However, nucleoside analogue based regimens are no longer recommended because of the risk of bone marrow and stem cell toxicity ²⁷ and the risk of secondary myeloid neoplasms and disease transformation ²⁸ ²⁹.

Similarly, single agent Chlorambucil is no longer recommended because of poorer PFS of 26-46 months and higher risk of secondary myeloid neoplasms of 3-9% ^{22,30}.

Single agent Rituximab is not advised because of poor overall response rates of 52%, short median time to progression of 16 months for treated and untreated patients, and risk of IgM flare in >50% 7,8,31 . A recent phase 2 study on single agent Ofatumumab found similar overall response rate of 51% but with a lower rate of IgM flare of 9% 32 .

The only significant randomised controlled study in the setting of relapsed WM is the French CAP (cyclophosphamide, adriamycin and prednisolone) vs. fludarabine study ³³. In this study, patients salvaged with CAP had poor ORR and a short median PFS of only 3 months, again suggesting that an adriamycin-containing, CHOP-like regimen is likely an inferior choice. In contrast, the results of fludarabine-based or bendamustine-based regimens are superior, with median PFS of 12 to 36 months particularly when combined with rituximab ^{5,18,34-37} (**Table 6**).

Proteasome inhibitors:

Several studies using proteasome inhibitor based regimens including Bortezomib and Carfilzomib have been conducted in WM ³⁸⁻⁴³. In general, combinations of proteasome inhibitors and rituximab achieve an overall response rate (ORR) of 65–83% and median PFS of 2–4 years, somewhat inferior to those seen with fludarabine- or Bendamustine-based regimens. Their advantages include a rapid paraprotein response, hypothesised to be due to plasma cell depleting effect ⁴⁴, which may be particularly beneficial in patients with hyperviscosity syndrome, high IgM levels, renal disease and amyloidosis. They also carry the benefit of lack of stem cell toxicity and reduced risk of MDS. Furthermore, bortezomib has been reported to be particularly beneficial in patients with familial disease ⁴⁵. However, bortezomib can exacerbate WM-related neuropathy, with reported grade 3–4 neuropathy rates of 20–30% when given twice weekly and intravenously ^{38,40-42}. This risk may be reduced by administering bortezomib weekly ^{40,46} or by the use of the second-generation proteasome inhibitor carfilzomib which does not commonly cause neuropathy ⁴³. There are no data on the use of subcutaneous bortezomib in WM, but this can be considered based on the data in myeloma patients. These drugs are not registered or funded for treatment of WM in Australia.

Carfilzomib is known to increase the risk of cardiovascular events in multiple myeloma. This should also be taken into consideration in older patients with WM with history of cardiovascular disease⁴⁷.

Regimen	Dose and Schedule	Comment
B-R ¹⁵	Bendamustine 90 mg/m2 Days 1, 2 Rituximab 375mg/m2 iv D1 28 day cycles X 6	Steroid sparing regimen, Due to risk of IgM flare, consider withholding rituximab until paraprotein levels are <40g/L
DRC ²⁰	Dexamethasone 20mg iv D1 Rituximab 375mg/m2 iv D1 Cyclophosphamide 100mg/m2 oral twice daily D1 – 5 (total dose over 5 days 1000 mg/m2) 3 weekly cycles x 6	Not stem cell toxic. Due to risk of IgM flare, consider withholding rituximab until paraprotein levels are <40g/L
Ibrutinib ⁶³	420 mg OD	Limited to MYD88 mutated cases.
Ibrutinib + Rituximab ⁵⁸	420 mg OD Rituximab 375 mg/2	Independent of MYD88 genotype
Zanubrutinib ⁶³	160 mg BD or 320 mg OD PO	
IDR ⁴⁹	Ixazomib PO 4 mg and Dexamethasone PO/IV 20 mg Days 1, 8, 15 Rituximab 375 mg/m2 Day 1 every 28 days	
FR ^{24,98}	*Fludarabine 25mg/m2 iv D1 – 5 Rituximab 375mg/m2 iv D1 28 day cycles x 6 *Fludarabine can also be administered orally at a dose of 40mg/m2.	Stem cell toxic. Due to risk of IgM flare, consider withholding rituximab until paraprotein levels are <40g/L. Consider dose reduction in patients over the age of 65 years, and those with GFR <70ml/min.
FCR ^{26,98}	*Fludarabine 25mg/m2 iv D1 – 3 Cyclophosphamide 250mg/m2 iv D1 – 3 Rituximab 375mg/m2 iv D1 4 weekly cycles x 6 *Fludarabine can also be administered orally at a dose of 40mg/m2.	Stem cell toxic. Due to risk of IgM flare, consider withholding rituximab until paraprotein levels are <40g/L. Consider dose reduction in patients over the age of 65 years, and those with GFR <70ml/min. May carry increased MDS risk relative to FR.
Chlorambucil 98	Chlorambucil 8 mg/m2 PO D1-10 28 day cycles X 12 (max)	In frail and/or elderly Risk of MDS/AML
Rituximab – single agent ⁹⁹	Rituximab 375 mg/m2 IV D1 4 doses at weekly intervals	Should be avoided in patients with high IgM because of risk of "IgM flare".

Table 5: Doses and Schedules of Frontline Regimens for WM

In the United States, these proteasome-based regimens are commonly used in the salvage setting, producing median remission durations of approximately 12 - 18 months 38,39,41,42,48.

Ixazomib is an oral proteasome inhibitor which has been trialled with good results in both treatment naïve and relapsed WM. A prospective phase II study of oral ixazomib with dexamethasone and rituximab in 26 symptomatic treatment naïve patients found ORR of 96% with major responses in 77% at a median follow up of 22 months ⁴⁹. Long term follow up further showed median PFS and time to next treatment (TTNT) of 40 months each, duration of response of 38 months and VGPR of 19%. The treatment regimen was well tolerated without significant neurological or cardiac toxicity ⁵⁰. A similar regimen combining Ixazomib with oral dexamethasone and subcutaneous administration of Rituximab in a multicentre phase I/II study in 56 relapsed refractory WM patients (median number of previous treatments =2, range 1-7), showed ORR of 71% and PFS of 56% at median follow up of 24 months ⁵¹. This regimen shows promise as an alternative to current chemoimmunotherapy regimen.

BTKi

BTK is a non-receptor tyrosine kinase, with a central role in B-cell signalling in normal B-cell development. It plays a role in the molecular cascade downstream of the B-cell receptor (BCR) resulting in activation of the phosphoinositide-3-kinase (P13K)–protein kinase B (AKT) pathway, phospho- lipase C (PLC), protein kinase C (PKC), and nuclear factor KB(NF-KB) with consequent B-cell differentiation, proliferation, and survival 52,53,30–32 BTK also has a role in the signalling of G-coupled chemokine receptors (like CXCR4), cytokine receptors (CD19, CD38 CD40), tumor necrosis family receptors (TNFRs), integrins and toll-like receptors (TLRs), such as TLR/MYD88 54.

The BTK signalling pathway is constitutively activated in WM, causing survival of malignant B cells, and making it an ideal target for therapeutic inhibition. Activating mutations of MYD88, seen in > 90% of WM, are associated with increased down- stream BTK signalling, providing further therapeutic rationale for BTK inhibition ⁵⁵.

BTKis covered in this guideline are the first-generation inhibitor, Ibrutinib, and the second-generation inhibitors Zanubrutinib, Acalabrutinib and Tirabrutinib, with particular focus on Ibrutinib and Zanubrutinib.

Ibrutinib

Ibrutinib is a first-in-class oral BTKi, which binds irreversibly and covalently with a cysteine residue on site 481 of the binding site of BTK, with several downstream effective mechanisms. These include activation of apoptosis, inhibition of DNA replication, blocking of prosurvival signalling pathways via inhibition of HCK and NFkB, and immunomodulatory effects on the tumour microenvironment.

In 2015, the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) licensed Ibrutinib for the treatment of relapsed WM, based on a landmark phase II study⁵⁶. In this study, ibrutinib at a dose of 420 mg daily, achieved an ORR of 73% (with no CRs) in 63 patients with relapsed or refractory WM, with the major toxicities being bleeding, an increased risk of atrial fibrillation and gastrointestinal side effects. The 2-year PFS is currently 69% ⁵⁶. The long-term follow up of this cohort showed ORR and major response rates of 91% and 79% at median follow up of 59 months ⁵⁷. Patients with mutated MYD88 and wildtype (WT) CXCR4 showed higher response rates and shorter times to response. Median PFS was 0.4 years in patients with MYD88 WT cases, and 5-year PFS was 70% vs 38% for CXCR4 WT vs CXCR4 mutated cases indicating poor efficacy in patients who are MYD88 WT, and those who are MYD88 mutated but carry CXCR4 mutations (noting the limitations of small sample size in drawing these conclusions) ⁵⁷.

The INNOVATE phase 3 randomised trial of Rituximab with Ibrutinib vs rituximab monotherapy included 150 symptomatic patients who were treatment naïve or relapsed/refractory to previous treatments. The PFS at 30 months was 82% and was independent of MYD88 or CXCR4 genotype. Hypertension and atrial fibrillation were noted at rates of 13% and 12% respectively, and infusion-related reactions of 16%⁵⁸.

A third arm of the study enrolled 31 Rituximab refractory patients (median number of prior treatments =4) and treated them with Ibrutinib monotherapy, achieving ORR of 90% and 18 month PFS of 86% ⁵⁹. This study did not directly compare Ibrutinib monotherapy vs Ibrutinib with Rituximab. As there is no direct head-to-head comparison of ibrutinib vs ibrutinib-rituximab in current clinical trials, both ibrutinib monotherapy and ibrutinib-rituximab are approved for the treatment of WM in the USA.

Zanubrutinib

Zanubrutinib is an oral second generation BTKi which binds irreversibly to the Cys481 residue of the adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-binding pocket of the BTK active site. It has high selectivity for BTK, equal potency to first generation inhibitors, and less off-target effect on epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), interleukin-2-inducible T-cell kinase (ITK), Janus tyrosine kinase 3 (JAK3), human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), and TEC-family kinases ⁶⁰. The first-in-human studies with this drug in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL) demonstrated potent antitumor activity, was well tolerated, and demonstrated an overall response rate of 96.2% ⁶¹.

In the phase I/II study BGB-3111 AU-003, 77 patients with WM (24 TN and 53 R/R) were also included; they had no prior BTK inhibitor exposure and were treated with Zanubrutinib 160 mg BD or 320 mg OD. Long term data at a median follow-up of 36.0 months for patients with R/R disease and 23.5 months for TN patients showed ORR of 95.9%, and VGPR/CR rate of 45.2%. The \geq VGPR rate increased over time - it was 20.5% at 6 months, 32.9% at 12 months, and 43.8% at 24 months. The estimated 3-year progression-free survival rate was 80.5%, and overall survival rate was 84.8% 62 .

At median follow up, almost three quarters of patients remained on treatment. Reasons for treatment discontinuation included any adverse events in 13.0% of patients, disease progression (10.4%), and other causes (3.9%) 62 .

The landmark phase 3 ASPEN study compared Ibrutinib monotherapy (n=99) with 160 mg BD of Zanubrutinib (n=101) in 201 symptomatic WM patients who had the MYD88 mutation ⁶³. Results showed similar PFS at 18 months of 84 and 85%, major response rate (MRR), and a non-statistically significant difference in VGPR of 19% vs 28% favouring zanubrutinib (p=0.09). There were no CRs. Adverse events including cardiovascular toxicity (especially AF and grade 3+ hypertension) and those resulting in discontinuation of treatment were less often seen with Zanubrutinib. While neutropenia was more common with Zanubrutinib, ≥ grade 3 infections were similar at 1.2 and 1.1 per 100-person months ⁶³.

In the context of Ibrutinib monotherapy having shown poor outcomes in MYD88 WT WM, the ASPEN study included a cohort of MYD88 neg/unknown patients. Of the 28 patients included in the study (26 MYD88 WT, 2 mutation unknown), 50% achieved a major response and 27% a VGPR. At 18 months, PFS and OS were 68% and 88% respectively. This important sub-study established the efficacy of Zanubrutinib monotherapy in MYD88 WT patients.

A phase 2 study of 44 Chinese patients with R/R WM with at least 1 prior therapy, treated with Zanubrutinib showed MRR in \sim 70% and VGPR in 32.6%. MYD88 WT cases showed MRR of 50%. Grade 3 neutropenia, thrombocytopenia and pneumonia were seen in 31.8% and 20.5% each respectively, and there were no cases reported with AF 64 .

Although the preferred dose of zanubrutinib is 160mg BD (based on more complete inhibition of BTK over time), available clinical data support activity at both 160mg BD and 320mg daily, with no difference observed to date ⁶⁵. The once vs. twice daily dosing schedule can be based on patient preference.

Acalabrutinib

Acalabrutinib (ACP-196), is another oral, second-generation, highly selective, potent covalent BTK inhibitor ⁶⁶. Acalabrutinib monotherapy at a dose of 100 mg BD was reported in 106 WM patients, of which 14 were treatment-naïve and 92 were relapsed/refractory patients. The overall response rate was 93% for both TN and for R/R patients at a median follow up of 27.4 months ⁶⁷. Of 50 patients with reported genomic studies, the overall response rate was 94% among MYD88^{L265P} mutated patients and 79% among MYD88^{WT} patients. Overall, the responses were similar to those reported with ibrutinib, with a possible superior benefit for the patients with MYD88^{WT}. Of the 14 treatment naive patients, 7 patients discontinued treatment (50%); 23 (25%) of 92 relapsed or refractory patients discontinued treatment on study. Grade 3 or higher adverse events reported in more than 5% of patients included neutropenia (16%), and pneumonia (7%). Grade 3-4 atrial fibrillation occurred in one (1%) patient and grade 3-4 bleeding occurred in three (3%) patients. Treatment-related pneumonia and lower respiratory tract infection were reported in 5% and 4% respectively. There were 5 grade 5 events: pneumonia, glioblastoma multiforme, oesophageal carcinoma, myocardial ischemia, and intracranial hematoma but only 1 was considered treatment-related ⁶⁷.

Tirabrutinib

Tirabrutinib (GS-4059/ONO) is an irreversible, selective BTK inhibitor 68 . In a phase II trial of 27 patients (18 TN, 9 RR), of which 96% carried the MYD88 mutation, the drug resulted in an overall response rate of 94% and 100% among treatment-naïve and previously treated patients with WM after a median follow up of 6.5 and 8.3 months respectively. The median time to major response was 1.87 months. The toxicity profile was manageable, with the most common adverse effects reported to be rash (44%), neutropenia (25.9%), and leukopenia (22.2%). Grade \geq 3 AEs included neutropenia (11.1%), lymphopenia (11.1%), and leukopenia (7.4%). No grade 5 AEs were noted. All bleeding events were grade 1, and there was no AF or HT reported 69 .

Non-covalent BTKi

There are 2 non-covalent reversible BTKi that are being tried in WM - LOXO-305 and ARQ531. This group of drugs has the advantage of non-reliance on covalent binding at C481 site of BTK ⁷⁰, making them able to bypass resistance mediated by mutations of the C481 site ⁷¹.

Recommended phase 2 doses of 200 mg daily of LOXO-305 (Pirtabrutinib) 72 and 65 mg QD of ARQ-531 73 respectively have been found to have acceptable safety profiles and efficacy, and may potentially fulfil an unmet need in patients resistant to first generation BTKi.

Other novel agents

There are several novel agents being trialled in WM patients.

BCL2 expression has been shown to universally upregulated in WM 74 . A Phase I study with single agent venetoclax in relapsed/refractory B-NHL included 4 WM patients, with ORR 100% 75 . A Phase II study of venetoclax in 32 patients with relapsed/refractory WM patients including 16 previously treated with BTKi showed overall, major, and very good partial response rates of 84%, 81%, and 19%, respectively 76 . All patients carried the *MYD88 L265P* mutation, and 17 carried *CXCR4* mutations. The median time to minor and major responses was 1.9 and 5.1 months, respectively with previous exposure to BTKis associated with a longer time to response (4.5 v 1.4 months; P < .001). The median progression-free survival was 30 months. Treatment was well tolerated with the only recurring grade \geq 3 treatment-related adverse event being neutropenia (n = 14; 45%), including only 1 episode of febrile neutropenia, and 1 episode of laboratory reported tumour lysis without clinical findings 76 .

Upregulation of the protein kinase C (PKC) beta, and PI3/mTOR pathways is known and has led to the use of enzastaurin (PKC beta inhibitor) and rapamycin (mTOR inhibitor) in WM with variable success ⁷⁷. Lenalidomide is associated with prolonged anaemia in some patients at standard doses ⁷⁷ but doses of 15mg/day of lenalidomide have been shown to be safe and efficacious ⁷⁸. Intention to treat analysis showed overall response rate of 29%, and median time to progression was 16 months (95% CI 5.5-26) at a median follow up of 36 months. The 5-year OS was reported to be 91%. Grade 3 or higher adverse events at 15 mg Lenalidomide dose included 14% anaemia and 43% neutropenia.

Regimen (N)	N	Overall Response (%)	Median Progression Free Survival	AML/ MDS	Median overall survival (OS)	Comments
FRONTLINE STUDIES						
Bendamustine + Rituximab ¹⁵ Bendamustine + Rituximab ¹⁶	22 116	95% 86%	70 months	<1%	-	
Rituximab, cyclophosph-amide, dexamethasone (DRC) ²⁰	72	74% (CR 7%)	35 months	1%	95 months	
Ibrutinib ⁶³	99	77% (19% VGPR)	84% PFS at 18 months	N/A		In MYD88 mutated patients only
Rituximab + Ibrutinib vs placebo ⁵⁸	150	72% vs 32% major response rate (P<0.001)	At 30 months, PFS 82% vs. 28% (HR 0.20; P<0.001)	N/A		Independent of MYD88 genotype
Zanubrutinib ⁶³	101	78% major response rate (28% VGPR)	85% PFS at 18 months	N/A		Effective independent of MYD88 genotype
Ixazomib + Dexamethasone + Rituximab ^{49,50}	28	96%	40 months			
Chlorambucil ³⁰ (Mayo) Chlorambucil ⁹⁸ (WM1)	46 209	64 - 75% 39%	26-46 mths 27 months	9% 3%	5.4 years 69.8 months	
Fludarabine ⁹⁸ (WM1) Fludarabine ²³ (SWOG) Cladribine ¹⁰⁰	209 118 26	48% 38% (CR 3%) 85% (CR 12%)	36 months 60 months NR	0.5% NR NR	Not reached 5yr OS 62%	
Fludarabine + Rituximab ²⁴ Cladribine + Rituximab ³⁷ FC + Rituximab ²⁶	27 16 28	89% (CR 4%) 94% 93% (CR 15%)	77 months 65+ months 51+ months	4% 0% 0%	-	
R-CHOP (GLSG) ¹⁰¹ R-CHOP ¹⁵ (StiL 1-2003)	23 19	91% (CR 9%) 95%	63 months 28 months	NR <1%	-	
Bortezomib (NCIC) 38	27	25%	16 months	NR	-	
Bortezomib + Rituximab ⁴⁶ Bortezomib + Dexa + Ritux ⁴⁰ Bortezomib + Dexa + Ritux ¹⁰²	26 23 59	65% (CR 4%) 83% (CR 13%) 68% (CR 3%)	12+ months 30+ months 42 months	NR NR NR	- - 3yr OS 81%	0% PN; 30% PN; 7% PN
Carfilzomib + Dexa + Ritux ⁴³	31	68% (CR 3%)	55% at 2 yr	NR	-	
RELAPSED/ REFRACTORY STUDIES						
Bendamustine + various ¹⁸ Bendamustine + Rituximab ¹⁹	30 13	83% (CR 0%) NR	13 months 32 months	3% NR	- =	
Ibrutinib ^{56,57}	63	90.5%	2 year PFS 69%; 5 year PFS not reached	N/A	5 year OS 87%	5 yr PFS 70% vs. 38% for MYD88(Mut) CXCR4(WT) & MYD88(Mut) CXCR4(Mut), (P = .02)
Zanubrutinib ⁶³	101	78% (28% VGPR)	85% PFS at 18 months	N/A		Effective independent of MYD88 genotype
Venetoclax	32	84%	30 months			
IDR 51	59	71% (VGPR: 14%)	Not reached			

table continues next page

Regimen (N)	N	Overall Response (%)	Median Progression Free Survival	AML/ MDS	Median overall survival (OS)	Comments
RELAPSED/ REFRACTORY STUDIES						
Cyclophosphamide, adriamycin, prednisolone 33	45	11%	3 months	4%	41 months	
Fludarabine (Phase 3) ³³ Fludarabine (SWOG) ²³ Cladribine ¹⁰⁰	45 64 46	30% 33% (CR 0%) 43%	19 months 30% at 5y 12 months	9% NR NR	45 months 5yr OS 50%	
Fludarabine + Rituximab ²⁴ Fludarabine + Various ³⁵ FC + Rituximab ³⁶ Cladribine + Rituximab ²⁵	20 19 40 13	81% (CR 5%) 74% 80% (CR 10%) 85%	38 months 36 months 77 months > 65 months	10% 16% 5% 0%	- - -	
Bortezomib (Greek) ⁴¹ Bortezomib (WMCTG) ⁴² Bortezomib (NCIC) ³⁸	10 27 15	60% (CR 0%) 48% (CR 0%) 27% (CR 0%)	NR 7 months 16 months	NR NR NR	-	20% G3 PN; 22% G3 PN; 19% G3 PN
Bortezomib + Rituximab ³⁹ Bortezomib + Rituximab ⁴⁸	37 10	52% 90%	17 months NR	NR NR	-	
Ibrutinib 56	63	73% (CR 0%)	24+ months	NR	2yr OS 95%	
AUTOLOGOUS STEM CELL TRANSPLA	NTATIO	N				
Consolidation of 1st response 84 Consolidation of 1st response 85	12 69	100% (CR17%) NR	69 months 60 months	NR NR	Not reached -	Subset population
All disease stages ¹⁰³ All disease stages ⁸⁵	10 158	NR NR	36+ months 48 months	NR 4%	3yr OS 70% 5yr OS: 68.5%	NRM 11%; NRM 5.6%
ALLOGENEIC STEM CELL TRANSPLANTATION						
Allogeneic SCT ¹⁰⁴ Myeloablative conditioning (MAC) Reduced intensity conditioning (RIC)	MAC: 37 RIC: 49	ORR 75.6%	MAC: 56% at 3 yr RIC: 49% at 3 yr		MAC: 62% at 3 yrs RIC: 64% at 3 yr	MAC: 33% at 3 yr RIC: 23% at 3 yrs

Table 6: Overview of Published Regimens for the Treatment of WM

4 FRONTLINE THERAPY OF WM

Therapy should be offered only for symptomatic disease or when disease-related complications are present (**Table 2**). There is no single accepted standard frontline regimen for WM. Within the current Australian regulatory environment, the most pragmatic chemoimmunotherapy regimens, depending on the age, presence of co-morbidities and general fitness of the patient, are Bendamustine and rituximab (B-R), or dexamethasone, rituximab, and cyclophosphamide (DRC) for transplant eligible candidates.

Where available, BTKi is recommended as frontline therapy especially in those who are not candidates for chemoimmunotherapy because of age or co-morbidities. Ibrutinib monotherapy is not advised in MYD88 WT patients; for such patients, Ibrutinib and Rituximab regimens appear to have better efficacy. Zanubrutinib monotherapy can be used in patients irrespective of MYD88 genotype, negating the need for testing.

Doses and schedules of B-R, DRC, BTKi, FCR, FR, and single agent chlorambucil and rituximab are listed in Table 5.

Initial therapy of WM (adapted from Talaulikar et al3)

- Treatment should only be given for symptomatic WM meeting therapy criteria (**Table 1**) (Level III, grade C), or in those with asymptomatic but very high IgM (>60g/L) (Level IV, grade C).
- Patients should be enrolled in clinical trials wherever possible.
- Reasonable first-line regimens for WM include B-R, which is superior to R-CHOP with reduced toxicity (Level IB, grade A) and DRC ((level III, grade B).
- *Ibrutinib monotherapy is recommended if available in MYD88 mutated patients (Level 1B, grade A). In MYD88 WT genotype, it is recommended that Ibrutinib be combined with Rituximab (Level 1B, grade A).
- *Zanubrutinib monotherapy is effective irrespective of MYD88 genotype, with fewer off-target effects, and is recommended if available (Level 1B, grade A).
- Fludarabine-based regimens such as FCR or FR are effective (Level II, grade B) but are likely to be associated with increased toxicity in older patients and those with impaired renal function; may impact on stem cell mobilisation; and may increase the risk of MDS /AML. For these reasons, fludarabine should be avoided in frontline treatment (Level III, grade C).
- Chlorambucil has been shown to have poorer response rates, PFS and OS compared to fludarabine (Level I, Grade A). It is therefore not recommended for treatment.
- Single agent rituximab produces responses in up to 50% with low toxicity (Level 2, Grade B). There may be a role for single agent treatment in elderly and/or frail patients who cannot tolerate other treatments (Level IV, grade C).
- There is little efficacy gained with the use of anthracycline and vincristine in R-CHOP. This regimen is not recommended for treatment of WM as B-R is more efficacious and less toxic (Level IB, grade A).
- Patients receiving rituximab especially as single agent may develop an IgM flare for ~8 weeks and caution should be exercised in assessment of response (Level II, grade B).
- Proteasome inhibitors such as bortezomib may be useful in rapid lowering of paraprotein especially in patients with hyperviscosity symptoms and in patients with familial WM (Level III, grade C).

*Please note at the time of submission of the manuscript, these drugs are not funded by PBS for frontline treatment.

Treatment of relapsed WM

There is no standard treatment for relapsed WM and the options depend on (1) availability of novel agents, (2) quality and duration of first response, (3) patient fitness and tolerance of therapy, and (4) whether there is unresolved toxicity from previous therapies such as neuropathy or myelosuppression. Published results of relapsed WM therapy are summarized in **Table 6**.

Treatment of relapsed WM

- Patients with indolent relapse of WM (e.g. biochemical relapse without symptoms or end-organ effects) can be observed without active therapy (Level IV, grade C).
- Consideration should be given to enrolling patients on clinical trials, particularly if previous chemotherapy responses are short (<12 months) (Level IV, grade C).
- Patients should not be re-exposed to the same regimen if the previous response is less than 12 months (Level IV, grade C).
- *Ibrutinib monotherapy is recommended if available in MYD88 mutated patients (Level 1B, grade A). In MYD88 WT genotype, it is recommended that Ibrutinib be combined with Rituximab (Level 1B, grade A).
- *Zanubrutinib monotherapy is effective irrespective of MYD88 genotype, with fewer off-target effects, and is recommended if available (Level 1B, grade A).
- Younger patients with good physical fitness can be considered for autologous and allogeneic stem cell transplantation at first or second relapse, and should avoid stem cell toxic therapies such as fludarabine (Level III, grade C).
- Patients with persistent myelosuppression (e.g. hypocellular marrow and thrombocytopenia) should avoid fludarabine (Level II, grade B); conversely, patients with unresolved neuropathy should avoid bortezomib (Level II, grade B).

*Please note at the time of submission of the manuscript, these drugs are not funded by PBS for treatment.

Supportive care

Urgent management of symptomatic hyperviscosity at diagnosis or during treatment may be required using plasmapheresis to remove the large IgM molecules, and is also recommended when IgM levels are \geq 60 g/L ⁷⁹. Avoidance of red cell transfusions is recommended in this setting; if absolutely necessary, this should be timed to follow plasmapheresis ⁸⁰; careful fluid management to prevent exacerbation of hyperviscosity and acute pulmonary oedema is required. Iron infusions may be useful for management of functional iron deficiency secondary to hepcidin excess⁸¹.

The sensorimotor neuropathy of WM can be partially reversed with rituximab based therapy in some patients 82,83. Management of neuropathy should be undertaken in conjunction with a neurologist and treatment with pregabalin may be required for symptomatic relief.

The presence of nephropathy often requires careful diuresis and fluid management due to extra vascular fluid in consultation with a renal physician.

Treatment of WM can be complicated by infections, especially in patients with hypogammaglobulinemia, and while there is lack of specific data in patients with WM, anti-microbial, anti-viral and anti-fungal prophylaxis is recommended for those who develop recurrent or life-threatening infections, and/or are receiving intensive or immunosuppressive therapy. Use of intravenous or subcutaneous immunoglobulin therapy should be considered in such patients.

Stem Cell Transplantation

ASCT may be considered as a potential treatment option in younger patients with relapsed or refractory WM. Two small studies have reported on the role of frontline ASCT in WM ^{84,85}. Prolonged median PFS of 60 months or more were reported, but these results are not sufficiently superior to those of induction regimens such as DRC and certainly not to BTKi, to justify the cost and toxicity (**Table 6**). ASCT is therefore not recommended in the frontline setting.

Retrospective studies have reported median PFS of 3 – 4 years across a variety of disease stages in relapsed patients ^{85,86}. Younger patients with good physical fitness should be considered for ASCT at first or second relapse, and particularly before the administration of stem

cell toxic therapies such as fludarabine (Level III, grade B). There is no data on role of ASCT in the BTKi era; however, ASCT would be a reasonable option in patients with aggressive disease and/or intolerance to BTKi. Feasibility of stem cell mobilisation after Bendamustine therapy has not been studied in the setting of WM. However, retrospective data in myeloma patients has shown that adequate numbers of stem cells can be successfully mobilized and engraftment obtained in patients pre-treated with Bendamustine ⁸⁷.

Allogeneic stem cell transplantation is used rarely, and is reserved for younger, fit patients with aggressive relapsed or refractory disease or transformed WM, who have a suitable donor and/or are resistant/intolerant to BTKi.

Bing Neel Syndrome

Bing Neel syndrome, so named because it was first observed by Bing and Neel in 1937, is a rare neurologic complication of WM occurring in ~1% of patients. It is caused by malignant lymphoma cells infiltrating the central nervous system, resulting in a range of neurologic sequelae such as headaches, cognitive deficits, paresis and psychiatric manifestations 88.

The clinicopathologic entity can occur after or before definitive diagnosis of WM (characterised by BM infiltration and IgM paraproteinemia). Diagnostic criteria developed by the 8th International Workshop on Waldenström Macroglobulinaemia include demonstration of monoclonal lymphoid cells with the characteristic phenotype (using flow cytometry, immunohistochemistry and/or monoclonal IgH) in CSF or on histologic biopsy. Other investigations include testing for MYD88 L265P mutation on CSF, and imaging of the brain and spinal cord using CT and/or MRI ⁸⁸.

While chemotherapy drugs known to traverse the blood brain barrier such as methotrexate and cytarabine have been used in the past, the dose dependent penetration of the blood brain barrier by BTKi ⁸⁹ has changed the treatment paradigm. A recent international retrospective study on single agent ibrutinib in 28 BNS patients showed symptomatic and radiologic improvements in 85% and 60% patients respectively within 3 months of treatment. The 2-year EFS rate with ibrutinib was 80% (95% confidence interval [CI], 58%-91%), the 2-year ibrutinib survival rate was 81% (95% CI, 49%-94%), and the 5-year BNS survival rate was 86% (95% CI, 63%-95%) ⁹⁰. Based on this study, use of BTKi is recommended for BNS.

Transformation to large cell disease

Histological transformation to diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) is known to occur in 5-10% of patients, especially those who have received nucleoside analogues ^{29,91} and is characterised by rapidly enlarging lymphadenopathy or extra nodal disease, and rising lactate dehydrogenase. DLBCL occurring in the context of antecedent WM is known to occur from clonal evolution of the underlying WM, but can also occur as an independent clone - because of the worse prognosis associated with transformed disease as compared to de-novo DLBCL, it is suggested that the lymphoma-specific IgH sequence be tracked in the WM clone and transformed tissue ⁹². Most cases of transformation involve extra-nodal sites, commonly CNS, cutaneous or testicular ⁹³.

A tissue biopsy is recommended to confirm histological transformation, and tested for EBV as it has been implicated in the pathogenesis, ^{94,95}. More than 80% of cases have a non-germinal centre B-cell phenotype ⁹³.Often, discordant involvement of the BM with small cells typical of WM is noted. PET scan may be particularly useful in the diagnosis of large cell transformation.

There is lack of specific data on outcomes in patients with transformed disease. It is recommended that these patients be treated with intensive chemotherapy regimens similar to those used for de-novo DLBCL. Responsive and fit patients may be considered for autologous and/or allogeneic transplantation. Palliation can be achieved through less intensive approaches including radiotherapy and high dose steroids.

5 CONCLUDING REMARKS

WM is no longer an orphan disease treated with therapies borrowed from indolent lymphomas and multiple myeloma. Improved understanding of WM biology including recognition of MYD88 L265P as a primary driver has led to the development of targeted therapies such as the BTK inhibitors, which have revolutionised treatment. At the same time, unique aspects of WM management such as IgM flare on cessation of BTKi pose challenges to less experienced clinicians and underscore the need for disease-specific treatment guidelines. Given the rapid advances in WM therapy and the limited access to novel drugs in Australia, enrolment of patients into WM-specific clinical trials is strongly encouraged.

Supplementary Appendix A: International Consensus Statements on Treatment of WM

Two main international consensus statements on the therapy of WM exist: one from the International Workshop on WM (IWWM) ¹⁰⁵, the second from the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) ¹⁰⁶. The IWWM guidelines were published prior to the data on Zanubrutinib being published.

The IWWM guidelines emphasize the following principles:

- (1) Recommended first-line regimens were (a) BTKi, (b) B-R (Bendamustine and rituximab), (c) DRC (dexamethasone, rituximab, and cyclophosphamide), or (d) bortezomib, rituximab and dexamethasone.
- (2) Rituximab maintenance is not recommended due to current paucity of evidence;
- (3) R-CHOP and fludarabine-based regimens were specifically recommended against in frontline;
- (4) In BTKi naïve patients, BTKi therapy is recommended at relapse.
- (4) Salvage therapy after remissions of ≥12 months may include repeat administration of the induction chemo-immunotherapy regimen, especially if BTKi is contraindicated;
- (5) Salvage options after shorter remissions include recruitment to clinical trials, BTKi therapy, switching to a different chemotherapy, bortezomib or ixazomib-based regimen (including fludarabine combinations), and in the appropriate clinical context, ASCT.

The major difference between the IWWM guidelines and Australian practice is the lack of public funding for bortezomib and BTKi for treatment of WM in Australia.

The NCCN guidelines are similar to the IWWM guidelines, with an increased emphasis on bortezomib-based or DRC induction due to lack of stem cell toxicity and perceived reduced rates of second cancers, compared with B-R or fludarabine-based regimens. The NCCN guidelines also recommend routine testing of serum viscosity in WM, with levels of ≥4cP being associated with hyperviscosity complications. This test is not universally available in Australia, where judgments regarding severity of hyperviscosity manifestations were commonly made on clinical features.

6 REFERENCES

- 1. Swerdlow S.H. Campo E HNL, Jaffe E.S., Plieri S.A., Stein H., Thiele J., (Eds). . WHO classification of tumours of hematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. 4th ed. Lyon: IARC, 2017.
- 2. Sekhar J, Sanfilippo K, Zhang Q, Trinkaus K, Vij R, Morgensztern D. Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: a Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results database review from 1988 to 2005. Leuk Lymphoma 2012;53(8):1625-6. DOI: 10.3109/10428194.2012.656103.
- 3. Talaulikar D, Tam CS, Joshua D, et al. Treatment of patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: clinical practice guidelines from the Myeloma Foundation of Australia Medical and Scientific Advisory Group. Intern Med J 2017;47(1):35-49. DOI: 10.1111/imj.13311.
- 4. Maqbool MG, Tam CS, Morison IM, et al. A practical guide to laboratory investigations at diagnosis and follow up in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: recommendations from the Medical and Scientific Advisory Group, Myeloma Australia, the Pathology Subcommittee of the Lymphoma and Related Diseases Registry and the Australasian Association of Clinical Biochemists Monoclonal Gammopathy Working Group. Pathology 2020;52(2):167-178. DOI: 10.1016/j.pathol.2019.11.002.
- 5. Treon SP. How I treat Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood 2015;126(6):721-32. (In eng). DOI: 10.1182/blood-2015-01-553974.
- 6. Gustine JN, Meid K, Dubeau T, et al. Serum IgM level as predictor of symptomatic hyperviscosity in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol 2017;177(5):717-725. DOI: 10.1111/bjh.14743.
- 7. Treon SP, Branagan AR, Hunter Z, Santos D, Tournhilac O, Anderson KC. Paradoxical increases in serum IgM and viscosity levels following rituximab in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Ann Oncol 2004;15(10):1481-3. DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdh403.
- 8. Ghobrial IM, Fonseca R, Greipp PR, et al. Initial immunoglobulin M 'flare' after rituximab therapy in patients diagnosed with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study. Cancer 2004;101(11):2593-8. DOI: 10.1002/cncr.20658.
- 9. Gustine JN, Meid K, Dubeau T, et al. Ibrutinib discontinuation in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: Etiologies, outcomes, and IgM rebound. Am J Hematol 2018;93(4):511-517. DOI: 10.1002/ajh.25023.
- 10. Tripsas CK, Patterson CJ, Uljon SN, Lindeman NI, Turnbull B, Treon SP. Comparative response assessment by serum immunoglobulin M M-protein and total serum immunoglobulin M after treatment of patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2013;13(2):250-2. (In eng). DOI: 10.1016/j.clml.2013.04.002.
- 11. Tate J, Caldwell G, Daly J, et al. Recommendations for standardized reporting of protein electrophoresis in Australia and New Zealand. Ann Clin Biochem 2012;49(Pt 3):242-56. DOI: 10.1258/acb.2011.011158.
- 12. Owen RG, Kyle RA, Stone MJ, et al. Response assessment in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: update from the VIth International Workshop. Br J Haematol 2013;160(2):171-6. DOI: 10.1111/bjh.12102.
- 13. Del Giudice I, Matutes E, Osuji N, Parry-Jones N, Swansbury J, Catovsky D. Delayed response to fludarabine in lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Haematologica 2005;90(2):268-70. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15710588).
- 14. Varghese AM, Rawstron AC, Ashcroft AJ, Moreton P, Owen RG. Assessment of bone marrow response in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma 2009;9(1):53-5. (In eng). DOI: 10.3816/CLM.2009.n.013.
- 15. Rummel MJ, Niederle N, Maschmeyer G, et al. Bendamustine plus rituximab versus CHOP plus rituximab as first-line treatment for patients with indolent and mantle-cell lymphomas: an open-label, multicentre, randomised, phase 3 non-inferiority trial. Lancet 2013;381(9873):1203-10. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61763-2.
- 16. Mathias J. Rummel CLI, Richard Greil, MD, Martin Gurner, Manfred Hensel, Erik Engel, Ulrich Jaeger, MD, Friedhelm Breuer, Bernd Hertenstein, Otto Prummer, Christian Buske, Juergen Barth, Alexander C. Burchardt, and Wolfram Brugger. Bendamustin-Rituximab Induction Followed by Observation or Rituximab Maintenance for Newly Diagnosed Patients with Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia: Results From a Prospective, Randomized, Multicenter Study (StiL NHL 7-2008 –MAINTAIN-; ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00877214). ASH abstract 2012 (abstract).
- 17. Rummel MJ LC, Hensel M, et al. Two years rituximab maintenance vs. observation after first line treatment with bendamustine plus rituximab (B-R) in patients with Waldenström's macroglobulinemia (MW): Results of a prospective, randomized, multicenter phase 3 study (the StiL NHL7-2008 MA). . Blood (2019) 134 (Supplement_1): 343 2019;134:Supplement_1:343. (abstract).
- 18. Treon SP, Hanzis C, Tripsas C, et al. Bendamustine therapy in patients with relapsed or refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2011;11(1):133-5. DOI: 10.3816/CLML.2011.n.030.

- 19. Rummel M, Kaiser U, Balser C, et al. Bendamustine plus rituximab versus fludarabine plus rituximab for patients with relapsed indolent and mantle-cell lymphomas: a multicentre, randomised, open-label, non-inferiority phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2016;17(1):57-66. DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00447-7.
- 20. Dimopoulos MA, Anagnostopoulos A, Kyrtsonis MC, et al. Primary treatment of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia with dexamethasone, rituximab, and cyclophosphamide. J Clin Oncol 2007;25(22):3344-9. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2007.10.9926.
- 21. Dimopoulos MA RM, Kastritis E et al. Primary Treatment of Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia with Dexamethasone, Rituximab and Cyclophosphamide (DRC): Final Analysis of a Phase II Study. ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts 2012;120(21):438.
- 22. Leblond V, Johnson S, Chevret S, et al. Results of a randomized trial of chlorambucil versus fludarabine for patients with untreated Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia, marginal zone lymphoma, or lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 2013;31(3):301-7. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2012.44.7920.
- 23. Dhodapkar MV, Jacobson JL, Gertz MA, et al. Prognostic factors and response to fludarabine therapy in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: results of United States intergroup trial (Southwest Oncology Group S9003). Blood 2001;98(1):41-8. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11418461).
- 24. Treon SP, Branagan AR, loakimidis L, et al. Long-term outcomes to fludarabine and rituximab in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood 2009;113(16):3673-8. DOI: 10.1182/blood-2008-09-177329.
- 25. Laszlo D, Andreola G, Rigacci L, et al. Rituximab and subcutaneous 2-chloro-2'-deoxyadenosine as therapy in untreated and relapsed Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2011;11(1):130-2. DOI: 10.3816/CLML.2011.n.029.
- 26. Tedeschi A, Benevolo G, Varettoni M, et al. Fludarabine plus cyclophosphamide and rituximab in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: an effective but myelosuppressive regimen to be offered to patients with advanced disease. Cancer 2012;118(2):434-43. DOI: 10.1002/cncr.26303.
- 27. Morgan SJ, Seymour JF, Grigg A, et al. Predictive factors for successful stem cell mobilization in patients with indolent lymphoproliferative disorders previously treated with fludarabine. Leukemia 2004;18(5):1034-8. DOI: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403326.
- 28. Leleu X, Soumerai J, Roccaro A, et al. Increased incidence of transformation and myelodysplasia/acute leukemia in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia treated with nucleoside analogs. J Clin Oncol 2009;27(2):250-5. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2007.15.1530.
- 29. Ling S, Joshua DE, Gibson J, et al. Transformation and progression of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia following cladribine therapy in two cases: natural evolution or iatrogenic causation? Am J Hematol 2006;81(2):110-4. DOI: 10.1002/ajh.20475.
- 30. Kyle RA, Greipp PR, Gertz MA, et al. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia: a prospective study comparing daily with intermittent oral chlorambucil. Br J Haematol 2000;108(4):737-42. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10792277).
- 31. Gertz MA, Rue M, Blood E, Kaminer LS, Vesole DH, Greipp PR. Multicenter phase 2 trial of rituximab for Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM): an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study (E3A98). Leuk Lymphoma 2004;45(10):2047-55. DOI: 10.1080/10428190410001714043.
- 32. Furman RR, Eradat HA, DiRienzo CG, et al. Once-weekly of atumumab in untreated or relapsed Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia: an open-label, single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Haematol 2017;4(1):e24-e34. DOI: 10.1016/S2352-3026(16)30166-1.
- 33. Leblond V, Levy V, Maloisel F, et al. Multicenter, randomized comparative trial of fludarabine and the combination of cyclophosphamide-doxorubicin-prednisone in 92 patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia in first relapse or with primary refractory disease. Blood 2001;98(9):2640-4. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11675332).
- 34. Treon SP. How I treat Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood 2009;114(12):2375-85. DOI: 10.1182/blood-2009-05-174359.
- 35. Peinert S, Tam CS, Prince HM, et al. Fludarabine based combinations are highly effective as first-line or salvage treatment in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Leuk Lymphoma 2010;51(12):2188-97. DOI: 10.3109/10428194.2010.524326.
- 36. Tedeschi A, Ricci F, Goldaniga MC, et al. Fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab in salvage therapy of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2013;13(2):231-4. DOI: 10.1016/j.clml.2013.02.011.
- 37. Laszlo D, Andreola G, Rigacci L, et al. Rituximab and subcutaneous 2-chloro-2'-deoxyadenosine combination treatment for patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: clinical and biologic results of a phase II multicenter study. J Clin Oncol 2010;28(13):2233-8. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.23.6315.
- 38. Chen CI, Kouroukis CT, White D, et al. Bortezomib is active in patients with untreated or relapsed Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: a phase II study of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. J Clin Oncol 2007;25(12): 1570-5. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2006.07.8659.
- 39. Ghobrial IM, Hong F, Padmanabhan S, et al. Phase II trial of weekly bortezomib in combination with rituximab in relapsed or relapsed and refractory Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol 2010;28(8):1422-8. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.25.3237.
- 40. Treon SP, loakimidis L, Soumerai JD, et al. Primary therapy of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia with bortezomib, dexamethasone, and rituximab: WMCTG clinical trial 05-180. J Clin Oncol 2009;27(23):3830-5. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2008.20.4677.

- 41. Dimopoulos MA, Anagnostopoulos A, Kyrtsonis MC, Castritis E, Bitsaktsis A, Pangalis GA. Treatment of relapsed or refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with bortezomib. Haematologica 2005;90(12):1655-8. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16330439).
- 42. Treon SP, Hunter ZR, Matous J, et al. Multicenter clinical trial of bortezomib in relapsed/refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: results of WMCTG Trial 03-248. Clin Cancer Res 2007;13(11):3320-5. DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2511.
- 43. Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, et al. Carfilzomib, rituximab, and dexamethasone (CaRD) treatment offers a neuropathy-sparing approach for treating Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Blood 2014;124(4):503-10. DOI: 10.1182/blood-2014-03-566273.
- 44. El-Ayoubi A, Wang JQ, Hein N, Talaulikar D. Role of plasma cells in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Pathology 2017;49(4): 337-345. DOI: 10.1016/j.pathol.2017.02.004.
- 45. Treon SP, Tripsas C, Hanzis C, et al. Familial disease predisposition impacts treatment outcome in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2012;12(6):433-7. DOI: 10.1016/j.clml.2012.08.006.
- 46. Ghobrial IM, Xie W, Padmanabhan S, et al. Phase II trial of weekly bortezomib in combination with rituximab in untreated patients with Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol 2010;85(9):670-4. DOI: 10.1002/ajh.21788.
- 47. Waxman AJ, Clasen S, Hwang WT, et al. Carfilzomib-Associated Cardiovascular Adverse Events: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol 2018;4(3):e174519. DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.4519.
- 48. Agathocleous A, Rohatiner A, Rule S, et al. Weekly versus twice weekly bortezomib given in conjunction with rituximab, in patients with recurrent follicular lymphoma, mantle cell lymphoma and Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia. Br J Haematol 2010;151(4): 346-53. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2010.08340.x.
- 49. Castillo JJ, Meid K, Gustine JN, et al. Prospective Clinical Trial of Ixazomib, Dexamethasone, and Rituximab as Primary Therapy in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res 2018;24(14):3247-3252. (In eng). DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-18-0152.
- 50. Castillo JJ, Meid K, Flynn CA, et al. Ixazomib, dexamethasone, and rituximab in treatment-naive patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia: long-term follow-up. Blood Advances 2020;4(16):3952-3959. DOI: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020001963.
- 51. Kersten MJ, Amaador K, Minnema MC, et al. Combining Ixazomib With Subcutaneous Rituximab and Dexamethasone in Relapsed or Refractory Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia: Final Analysis of the Phase I/II HOVON124/ECWM-R2 Study. J Clin Oncol 2022;40(1):40-51. (In eng). DOI: 10.1200/jco.21.00105.
- 52. Stevenson FK, Krysov S, Davies AJ, Steele AJ, Packham G. B-cell receptor signaling in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 2011;118(16):4313-20. DOI: 10.1182/blood-2011-06-338855.
- 53. Satterthwaite AB, Witte ON. The role of Bruton's tyrosine kinase in B-cell development and function: a genetic perspective. Immunol Rev 2000;175:120-7. (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10933597).
- 54. de Gorter DJ, Beuling EA, Kersseboom R, et al. Bruton's tyrosine kinase and phospholipase Cgamma2 mediate chemokine-controlled B cell migration and homing. Immunity 2007;26(1):93-104. DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2006.11.012.
- 55. Treon SP, Xu L, Guerrera ML, et al. Genomic Landscape of Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia and Its Impact on Treatment Strategies. J Clin Oncol 2020;38(11):1198-1208. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.19.02314.
- 56. Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Meid K, et al. Ibrutinib in previously treated Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med 2015;372(15):1430-40. (In eng). DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1501548.
- 57. Treon SP, Meid K, Gustine J, et al. Long-Term Follow-Up of Ibrutinib Monotherapy in Symptomatic, Previously Treated Patients With Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol 2021;39(6):565-575. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.20.00555.
- 58. Dimopoulos MA, Tedeschi A, Trotman J, et al. Phase 3 Trial of Ibrutinib plus Rituximab in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. N Engl J Med 2018;378(25):2399-2410. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1802917.
- 59. Dimopoulos MA, Trotman J, Tedeschi A, et al. Ibrutinib for patients with rituximab-refractory Waldenstrom's macroglobulinaemia (iNNOVATE): an open-label substudy of an international, multicentre, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2017;18(2):241-250. DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30632-5.
- 60. Guo Y, Liu Y, Hu N, et al. Discovery of Zanubrutinib (BGB-3111), a Novel, Potent, and Selective Covalent Inhibitor of Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase. J Med Chem 2019;62(17):7923-7940. DOI: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b00687.
- 61. Tam CS, Trotman J, Opat S, et al. Phase 1 study of the selective BTK inhibitor zanubrutinib in B-cell malignancies and safety and efficacy evaluation in CLL. Blood 2019;134(11):851-859. DOI: 10.1182/blood.2019001160.
- 62. Trotman J, Opat S, Gottlieb D, et al. Zanubrutinib for the treatment of patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: 3 years of follow-up. Blood 2020;136(18):2027-2037. DOI: 10.1182/blood.2020006449.
- 63. Tam CS, Opat S, D'Sa S, et al. A randomized phase 3 trial of zanubrutinib vs ibrutinib in symptomatic Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: the ASPEN study. Blood 2020;136(18):2038-2050. DOI: 10.1182/blood.2020006844.

- 64. An G, Zhou D, Cheng S, et al. A Phase II Trial of the Bruton Tyrosine-Kinase Inhibitor Zanubrutinib (BGB-3111) in Patients with Relapsed/Refractory Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia. Clin Cancer Res 2021;27(20):5492-5501. DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-21-0539.
- 65. Tam CS, Ou YC, Trotman J, Opat S. Clinical pharmacology and PK/PD translation of the second-generation Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitor, zanubrutinib. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol 2021;14(11):1329-1344. DOI: 10.1080/17512433.2021.1978288.
- 66. Barf T, Covey T, Izumi R, et al. Acalabrutinib (ACP-196): A Covalent Bruton Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor with a Differentiated Selectivity and In Vivo Potency Profile. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2017;363(2):240-252. DOI: 10.1124/jpet.117.242909.
- 67. Owen RG, McCarthy H, Rule S, et al. Acalabrutinib monotherapy in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 study. The Lancet Haematology 2020;7(2):e112-e121. DOI: 10.1016/S2352-3026(19)30210-8.
- 68. Liclican A, Serafini L, Xing W, et al. Biochemical characterization of tirabrutinib and other irreversible inhibitors of Bruton's tyrosine kinase reveals differences in on and off target inhibition. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj 2020;1864(4):129531. DOI: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2020.129531.
- 69. Sekiguchi N, Rai S, Munakata W, et al. A multicenter, open-label, phase II study of tirabrutinib (ONO/GS-4059) in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Cancer Sci 2020;111(9):3327-3337. DOI: 10.1111/cas.14561.
- 70. Johnson AR, Kohli PB, Katewa A, et al. Battling Btk Mutants With Noncovalent Inhibitors That Overcome Cys481 and Thr474 Mutations. ACS Chem Biol 2016;11(10):2897-2907. DOI: 10.1021/acschembio.6b00480.
- 71. Woyach JA, Furman RR, Liu TM, et al. Resistance mechanisms for the Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitor ibrutinib. N Engl J Med 2014;370(24):2286-94. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1400029.
- 72. Mato AR, Shah NN, Jurczak W, et al. Pirtobrutinib in relapsed or refractory B-cell malignancies (BRUIN): a phase 1/2 study. Lancet 2021;397(10277):892-901. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00224-5.
- 73. Woyach J, Stephens DM, Flinn IW, et al. Final Results of Phase 1, Dose Escalation Study Evaluating ARQ 531 in Patients with Relapsed or Refractory B-Cell Lymphoid Malignancies. Blood 2019;134(Supplement_1):4298-4298. DOI: 10.1182/blood-2019-127260.
- 74. Hunter ZR, Xu L, Yang G, et al. Transcriptome sequencing reveals a profile that corresponds to genomic variants in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Blood 2016;128(6):827-38. DOI: 10.1182/blood-2016-03-708263.
- 75. Davids MS, Roberts AW, Seymour JF, et al. Phase I First-in-Human Study of Venetoclax in Patients With Relapsed or Refractory Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 2017;35(8):826-833. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.70.4320.
- 76. Castillo JJ, Allan JN, Siddiqi T, et al. Venetoclax in Previously Treated Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia. J Clin Oncol 2022;40(1): 63-71. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.21.01194.
- 77. Sacco A, Leleu X, Rossi G, Ghobrial IM, Roccaro AM. Novel agents in Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia. Open journal of hematology 2010;1 (In Eng).
- 78. Fouquet G, Guidez S, Petillon MO, et al. Lenalidomide is safe and active in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Am J Hematol 2015;90(11):1055-9. DOI: 10.1002/ajh.24175.
- 79. Stone MJ. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: hyperviscosity syndrome and cryoglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma 2009;9(1):97-9. (In eng). DOI: 10.3816/CLM.2009.n.026.
- 80. Menke MN tS. Hyperviscosity syndrome. Clinical Malignant Hematology 2007:937-941.
- 81. Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Ciccarelli BT, et al. Patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia commonly present with iron deficiency and those with severely depressed transferrin saturation levels show response to parenteral iron administration. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2013;13(2):241-3. DOI: 10.1016/j.clml.2013.02.016.
- 82. Pestronk A, Florence J, Miller T, Choksi R, Al-Lozi MT, Levine TD. Treatment of IgM antibody associated polyneuropathies using rituximab. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2003;74(4):485-9. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12640069).
- 83. Benedetti L, Briani C, Grandis M, et al. Predictors of response to rituximab in patients with neuropathy and anti-myelin associated glycoprotein immunoglobulin M. Journal of the peripheral nervous system: JPNS 2007;12(2):102-7. DOI: 10.1111/j.1529-8027.2007.00129.x.
- 84. Dreger P, Schmitz N. Autologous stem cell transplantation as part of first-line treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2007;13(5):623-4. DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2007.01.083.
- 85. Kyriakou C, Canals C, Sibon D, et al. High-dose therapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: the Lymphoma Working Party of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. J Clin Oncol 2010;28(13):2227-32. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.24.4905.
- 86. Anagnostopoulos A, Eleftherakis-Papaiakovou V, Kastritis E, et al. Serum concentrations of angiogenic cytokines in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: the ration of angiopoietin-1 to angiopoietin-2 and angiogenin correlate with disease severity. Br J Haematol 2007;137(6):560-8. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.06609.x.

- 87. Poenisch W, Plotze M, Holzvogt B, et al. Stem cell mobilization and autologous stem cell transplantation after pretreatment with bendamustine, prednisone and bortezomib (BPV) in newly diagnosed multiple myeloma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2015;141(11):2013-22. DOI: 10.1007/s00432-015-1984-4.
- 88. Minnema MC, Kimby E, D'Sa S, et al. Guideline for the diagnosis, treatment and response criteria for Bing-Neel syndrome. Haematologica 2017;102(1):43-51. DOI: 10.3324/haematol.2016.147728.
- 89. Mason C, Savona S, Rini JN, et al. Ibrutinib penetrates the blood brain barrier and shows efficacy in the therapy of Bing Neel syndrome. Br J Haematol 2017;179(2):339-341. DOI: 10.1111/bjh.14218.
- 90. Castillo JJ, Itchaki G, Paludo J, et al. Ibrutinib for the treatment of Bing-Neel syndrome: a multicenter study. Blood 2019;133(4): 299-305. DOI: 10.1182/blood-2018-10-879593.
- 91. Leleu X, Tamburini J, Roccaro A, et al. Balancing risk versus benefit in the treatment of Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia patients with nucleoside analogue-based therapy. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma 2009;9(1):71-3. DOI: 10.3816/CLM.2009.n.018.
- 92. Talaulikar D, Biscoe A, Lim JH, et al. Genetic analysis of Diffuse Large B-cell Lymphoma occurring in cases with antecedent Waldenstrom Macroglobulinaemia reveals different patterns of clonal evolution. Br J Haematol 2019;185(4):767-770. DOI: 10.1111/bjh.15610.
- 93. Durot E, Tomowiak C, Michallet AS, et al. Transformed Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: clinical presentation and outcome. A multi-institutional retrospective study of 77 cases from the French Innovative Leukemia Organization (FILO). Br J Haematol 2017;179(3):439-448. DOI: 10.1111/bjh.14881.
- 94. Lin P, Mansoor A, Bueso-Ramos C, Hao S, Lai R, Medeiros LJ. Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma occurring in patients with lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma/Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clinicopathologic features of 12 cases. Am J Clin Pathol 2003;120(2):246-53. DOI: 10.1309/R01V-XG46-MFCD-VNHL.
- 95. Owen RG, Bynoe AG, Varghese A, de Tute RM, Rawstron AC. Heterogeneity of histological transformation events in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia (WM) and related disorders. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2011;11(1):176-9. DOI: 10.3816/CLML.2011.n.042.
- 96. Kyle RA, Benson JT, Larson DR, et al. Progression in smoldering Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: long-term results. Blood 2012;119(19):4462-6. DOI: 10.1182/blood-2011-10-384768.
- 97. Uljon SN, Treon SP, Tripsas CK, Lindeman NI. Challenges with serum protein electrophoresis in assessing progression and clinical response in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2013;13(2):247-9. DOI: 10.1016/j. clml.2013.03.001.
- 98. Johnson SA, Owen RG, Oscier DG, et al. Phase III study of chlorambucil versus fludarabine as initial therapy for Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia and related disorders. Clin Lymphoma 2005;5(4):294-7. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15794869).
- 99. Dimopoulos MA, Zervas C, Zomas A, et al. Treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia with rituximab. J Clin Oncol 2002;20(9):2327-33. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11981004).
- 100. Dimopoulos MA, Weber DM, Kantarjian H, Keating M, Alexanian R. 2Chlorodeoxyadenosine therapy of patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia previously treated with fludarabine. Ann Oncol 1994;5(3):288-9. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7514439).
- 101. Buske C, Hoster E, Dreyling M, et al. The addition of rituximab to front-line therapy with CHOP (R-CHOP) results in a higher response rate and longer time to treatment failure in patients with lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma: results of a randomized trial of the German Low-Grade Lymphoma Study Group (GLSG). Leukemia 2009;23(1):153-61. DOI: 10.1038/leu.2008.261.
- 102. Dimopoulos MA, Garcia-Sanz R, Gavriatopoulou M, et al. Primary therapy of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia (WM) with weekly bortezomib, low-dose dexamethasone, and rituximab (BDR): long-term results of a phase 2 study of the European Myeloma Network (EMN). Blood 2013;122(19):3276-82. DOI: 10.1182/blood-2013-05-503862.
- 103. Anagnostopoulos A, Hari PN, Perez WS, et al. Autologous or allogeneic stem cell transplantation in patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2006;12(8):845-54. DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2006.04.010.
- 104. Kyriakou C, Canals C, Cornelissen JJ, et al. Allogeneic stem-cell transplantation in patients with Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: report from the Lymphoma Working Party of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. J Clin Oncol 2010;28(33):4926-34. DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.27.3607.
- 105. Castillo JJ, Advani RH, Branagan AR, et al. Consensus treatment recommendations from the tenth International Workshop for Waldenstrom Macroglobulinaemia. Lancet Haematol 2020;7(11):e827-e837. DOI: 10.1016/S2352-3026(20)30224-6.
- 106. Anderson KC, Alsina M, Bensinger W, et al. Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia/lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma, version 2.2013. Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network: JNCCN 2012;10(10):1211-9. (In eng).